The German Chapel at Falaise

This unusual monument which dates back to Wéd War |, is located on the bound-
ary of the communal cemetery of Falaise near Vouzie (Ardennes district, France).
When looking from the cemetery entrance, it sits otthe left-hand edge of the cemetery
grounds, close to their rear boundary.

The chapel was built by the German military, ass shown in the only two contemporary
photographs known to exist.




The construction of the chapel was directed bgrchitect Julius Zeh of Feiburg
(Grand-Duchy of Baden), as can been seen from ansicription located at the lower edge
of the right-hand outer wall.

The exact date of construction is unknown, but onmay safely assume that it was built
in 1917 or early in 1918 because the names of sofi#6 German soldiers who died be-
tween October 9, 1917 and March 28, 1918 in combaperations near Ripont and
around nearby Hill 185, and were subsequent burieth the German military cemetery
adjacent to the chapel, were carved into gray storgabs on the rear wall of the chapel.
Practically all of these soldiers belonged to theoflowing troop units:

- 236th Reserve Infantry Regiment - 78th Infantry Regiment
- 111th Infantry Regiment - 41st Infantry Regiment
- 28th Engineer Battalion

The chapel is an up to 7 meters high structure whessides are about 5 meters long. Its
side walls as well as the rear wall were built frommed bricks, while its sculpturally deco-
rated front was built from concrete and hewn stone.

This facade in the style of antiquity represents avarrior holding in his right hand, a lau-
rel wreath as a symbol of Victory, and in his lefhand a sword symbolizing Power and
Struggle.

The chapel in 1991
The chapel, overgrown
by vegetation




The roof consists of a wooden structure (ping@ood rafters) covered by wooden
planking.

Chapel roof
Condition in 2006

The wooden planks are additionally covered wittarpaper plus a layer of scale-shaped
slates.

The flooring consists of flagstones with an edgingpade from grayish-black stone slabs.

At the time of its construction the chapel wabuilt with an interior ribbed vault ceiling
with four cross ribs. (1)
The ceiling (built from wooden battens) and the ingrior brick walls - except the middle
section of the rear wall - were plastered and pated in Prussian blue.

(1) This vault ceiling is no longer existent.



The front access to the chapel is closed by a wrglt iron grill which originally com-
prised three sections, two of which are still in @ce. The third (middle) section was used
as a barrier for the family tomb of the Collignon family on the communal cemetery, but
it unfortunately disappeared when that mausoleum wa renovated by the

Vouziers firm of Pierrard in November, 1986.

Chapel Portal
Condition in 2006

The interior of the chapel is lit by two segmentaérch openings in the right and left
hand walls.

Originally, these two openings (which are gtresent open cavities) were undoubtedly
equipped with wooden window frames filled with catledral yellow crown glass: frag-
ments of such glass were found in the excavation meaial around the chapel resulting
from diggings in 2005.

“Cathedral yellow” glass color

Underneath each of the windows, the interior of thehapel was provided with a concrete
bench, plastered in Prussian blue, each of which davooden seat planking. (1)

(1) As proven by plaster and wood vestiges found ihis concrete.



On the wall facing the chapel entrance, stondabs attached to the wall show the
carved names of the soldiers buried at the time, ithe adjacent military cemetery.

Above these stone slabs, a bas-relief made fraoncrete (fake stone) displays the fol-
lowing allegoric scene:
The widow of a soldier killed in action and his maber, who bemoan the death of the hero
who gave his life for his fatherland, facing an urncontaining his ashes.

Left: the widow with her child Rightthe inconsolable mother
Center: the urn

This bas-relief may have been painted originally, bt this is uncertain.
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Nominal list of German soldiers buried in the cemedry (on remaining stone

slabs):

RES~JNF~REGIMENT~236.

GEFR . FRIED. ANKLAM 1.M.G K. 236
ERS. RES. HERM. ABELING 9. KOMP.
GEFR . JOHANN BECKER 12. KOMP.
ERS . RES. FRANZ BUCKEN 4.KP.
KRIEGSFR. PETER BOCK 8 K P.
MUSK . NIKOL. BLUMENSTEIN 6. K .
VIZ . FELDW. HUB.CREMER 7. K P.
LSTRM . PAUL ECKE 9. KOMP.
MUSK . KARL FRANZE 10.K P.
LSTRM . HEINRICH FISCHER 11. K.
JAGER KARL GUNKEL 5.KP.
LTN.D.R.PETER GUSS 10.K P.
UNFFZ . KARL FULLGRAF 1.K P.
LSTRM . PAUL HEIMICH 7. KOMP.
LSTRM . KARL HENNEMANN 6. K P.
LTN . WILH. HOHMANN 11. KOMP.
ERS. RES.HEIN.HILDEBRANDT 7 .K
MUSK . PAUL JAHN 3. KOMP .
MUSK . OSKAR KEMPER 10. KOMP.
MUSK . ARNO KLEINGUNTHER 8. K
MUSK . BAPTIST KRAUSE 3. K P.
ERS. RES. KARL KUMMERLING 4. K
LTN.D.R.JOSEF KREMER 8. K.
KRIEGSFR. WILH.LULSDORF 2 M.G. K
MUSK . ERICH LINNE 7. KOMP.
UNFFZ . WILLY LUTSCHE 12.K
ERS.RES. ADOLF MULLER 8.KP.
MUSK . ALFRED MULLENBERG 6 . K
LTN . CURT MERTEN 3.M.G.K
MUSK . HEINRICH MOLLER IX . 2 . K .
MUSK . PAUL NEUMANN 3 .KP.
MUSK . WIHL . NUHLEN 8. KOMP.
MUSK . HUGO PFAHLHORN 8 .KP.
LSTM . EDMUND POPP 8. KOMP .
MUSK . ALFRED PARIS 5. KOMP.
GEFR . FERD ROSEWE 12. KOMP.
LSTRM . OTTO SELCHOW 9 . KOMP.
MUSK . HERMANN SCHENK 3.K P .
MUSK . HUGO SCHWAAB 9.KP.
UNFFZ . HEINR. SCHAFER3.M .G .K.
MUSK . HEINRICH SCHULTZ 4 .KP.

MUSK . KARL BERGER 3. KOMP .
GEFR . GJSTAV BECKER 5. KOMP .
LSTRM . UL . BURKHARDT 6 . K P .
MUSK ARNO BOCKLITZ 6 . KOMP .
MUSK EMIL BRUCKNER 2. M .G . K.
ERS . RES . EDU . CHOJNAKI 7 .KP.
LSTRM . AUG . DANNHAUSER 4 . K P .
LSTRM . ARNO ENGELHARDT 3.K.
MJSK . PAUL FEDER 4 .KOMP .
SCHUTZE JOH.GROSS1.M.G.K.
GEFR . WILH . GLENDE 2.M.G.K.
MUSK .HEINR .GRABENSTEIN 2. M.GK .
ERS. RES . ERNST HERR 8.KP.
ERS . RES . GERH . HEINRICHS 4 .K .
LTN. FRITZ HOKAMP 3.M .G .K.
MUSK . RICHARD HITZIG 10.KOMP .
UNFFZ .OTTO JAGER 12.KOMP .
MISK . GUIDO KREYSLER 9 .KOMP .
LTN.D.R. ADOLF KEUTMANN 8.K.
MUSK . WI LLI KUMMER 8 . KOMP .
MUK . OTTO KONIG 7. KOMP .
MUSK . OTTO KIRCHHOF 8 .KOMP .
MUSK . ALFRED KRAMER 8.KP.
LSTRM . HUG O LANGE 4 .KOMP .
UNFRZ . JOSEF LENNARTZ 3.KP.
UNFFZ . HUGO MANGER 12.KP.
MUSK. EMIL MANGOLS 2 .M .G .K.
LSTRM . WI LH . MULLER VII 7 .K.
LSRM . GUST . MICHAELIS 5.KP .
GEFR . HEINRICH NICOLET 2 .M.G.K.
MUK . ALBIN MAY 11.KOMP .
LSTRM . OSWALD OTTO 6.KP.
MUSK .KURT PFEIL 9.KOMP .
LSTRM. WALTER POLLIN 1.KP.
MUSK. HEINR . ROSSBACH 10.KP.
MUSKERICH SIPPEL 2.M.G.K.
LSTRM . MORITZ SEIFERT 10.KP.
UNFFZ .ROBERT SCHOLER 2.M.G.K.
JAGR AUGUST SCHATTE 5.KP.
JAGER HUBERT SCHMITZ 5.KP.
LSTRM . WILHELM SCHENKE 4 .KP.

MUSK . BERNH . SCHERPENBERG 8.K MUSK .WILH .STEINHAUSER 1 .M.GK.

MUSK . ERNST STEDTLER3.M .G . K.
LSTM . HERMANN STRAUSS Il 8 . K.

MUSK .WALTER STRUPPERT 12 .K.
UNFFZ. ERWIN STRUDING 4.KP.

JNNAERIE ~REGIMENT ~78

MUWBK . AUG . BAUMGARTEN 1.K P.
MUSK . JOHANN CASSEN 12 .KP.
GER . OTTO EBERS 10.KOMP .
LEUTN . KURT FRICHE 9. KOMP .
MUSK .ALBERT HEMMER 12 . KOMP .
MUSK . JOHANN KUBECK 10.KOMP .
MUSK . THEODOR KNIEF 9. KOMP .
MUSK . OI'TO MAIHOLD 12 . KOMP .
UNFFZ . WILH . ROTHBARTH 3 .M .G . K..
MUSK KARL SCHULZE 10 . KOMP .
MUSK . JOH .SCHONBUSCH 2 .M .G K.
MUSK . REINHOLD STEFFEN 10.K.
MUSK . HEINRICH THOLEN 3.KP.
UNNFZ . WILHEM REISER 7 .P1.28
PIONIER JOSEF RICHTER 7.P1.28
PIONIER EMIL KONNIG 7 .P |.28
UNFFZ . REINH . SCHIRRMEIER 7.P .28

RES JOHANNES BUBLITZ 11.KP.
MUSKGUSTAV DRAGER 11.KOMP .
IYE FELDW . HEINR.ESKEN 3.K.
LSRM . HEIN HORMANN 11.K.
OFFZ STV .WILH .JANSEN 3.M .G .K.
MUSK . KARL KREIENSE 9 .KOMP .
MUSK . MARTIN LEHMANN 9 . KOMP .
MUSK . JOHANNES MARTENS 3.K
SCHUTZE LUDOLF RUMKOPF 3 .M.G .K
LSTRM . RRIEDRICH SCHULZE 11 .K
SHUTZE WILH .SCHRODER 3.M .G K
UNFFZ . WILHEM WEBER 10.KP.
UNFFZ . JOH . RONKOWSKY 7 .G .M.W.K
GER . WILLI MARTEN 7.P1.28
PIONIER WILLI FUNDA 7 .P1.28
PIONIER ALBERT KUSTOS7.P1.28
PIONIER FRITZ FLOTER 7.P1.28

Unfortunately, two of the stone slabs (one of whichncluded soldiers’ names) dis-
appeared around 1980/85 as a result of acts of vastsm. Therefore, names of the fallen
soldiers on the former upper slab of the central tale cannot be deciphered. Shards of
those slabs were found during diggings carried oudfter thorough research in the sum-
mer of 2005, but half of that slab is still missingand none but a few names could be iden-
tified.



Present condition of the Chapel:

The mere fact that this monument still exists, evem its present state of relative preser-
vation, is rather exceptional.
The village of Falaise was intensively shelled by&nch artillery in October/November
1918, and many buildings including the parish churkh and the “Champagne” café (both
of which were located a mere 220 yards away) werkdn destroyed.
The survival of the chapel is even more astonishinfone considers its having been built
by the German military; many (much less conspicuoydegacies of the occupying forces
were destroyed by the inhabitants of neighboring aomunities upon their return from
exile, out of many different motives:

- feelings of revengefulness?

- the urge to banish anything that would remindpeople of four years of German oc-

cupation?

- recovering farm land which such structures hadeen built on?
Or simply for the purpose of procuring cheap buildng materials for the reconstruction
of housing destroyed during the war?
In Falaise, however, none of those conceivable rems led to the dismantling of the
Chapel, - maybe because it was perceived as sohmeg) religious? An additional, special
circumstance is the fact that it was only around 123/19330 that the mortal remains of
the German soldiers buried in the Falaise war cematy, were transferred to the German
War Cemetery at Chestres (the exact date of that @pation is unknown).
Unfortunately the ravages of time have gnawed awagt the Chapel for all of 90 years
and it is now threatened by total decay. Every addional strong gust of wind blows away
another few shingles, and unless countermeasureslvae taken soon against the rigors of
bad weather, the entire roof (which has miraculousl survived so far) will be blown
away.



As for the rest, rain water penetrated the chapeihterior through large holes in the roof,
deteriorating the wooden roof structure, destroying(because it seeped down along the
side walls) the wooden vaulted ceiling, and the Pssian blue plaster of the side walls and
Is now beginning to damage the concrete retainingall supporting the chapel facade.
The concrete used for that supporting element is iovery robust: it is more brittle than
would normally be the case because at the time a$iconstruction, the builders used
sand directly dug out of the nearby Aisne river bedas is borne out by a mussel shell
found in this concrete.

The chapel is still flanked by two black pines whil already appear on the 1917 photo-
graphs. These trees may have been a decisive factoselecting the location of the
chapel, because Germans usually set great store tgtails like such trees!

However, the pine on the right-hand side ohe chapel has grown so much in the
course of the past ninety years that it pushes agat the chapel side wall.

In addition, a particularly vigorous vine cause one of the large cornice stones be-
tween the right-hand side wall and the roof structwee, to fall to the ground. The absence
of that stone which had supported the roof, now exgses it all the more to wind effects.

Few visible traces are left, of the German Wa€emetery which formerly existed adja-
cent to the chapel. In certain years however, andegppendent on the climatic conditions
prevailing at the time, a number of peculiar geometc patterns appear in the
grass growing there, which are of a darker shade ajreen.
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Color patches presumably denoting the locationf former tombs (January, 2007)

These patterns cannot but make the observer imagirntbat German soldiers had once
been buried there!

When a wooden barn building on the property of Mr.Pierre-Jean Payer (of rue Notre
Dame, Falaise) was torn down in 2002, four WW | gnaestones were accidentally dug up,
which had been used as foundations for the pillarsupporting that barn. The owner who
had no use for those stones which bore inscriptiong/as kind enough to contact us and
let us have these artifacts (which would have wounglp in the waste dump, otherwise!).

W . POLLIN H.MULLER HARD MUSKETIER
RES.JNF.RGMT.236.1K RES.J.REGT. 236 .6K B.SCHERPENBERG
GEB. D. 13 OCKT. 1890 GEB. D. 21 JUNI. 1897 RES .J.REGT. 236 . 8K
GEF. D. 1917 GEF. D. 1917 GEB. D. . 1891 GEB. D. 16 J

GEF. D. 5 OCKT. 1916 GEF.D. 4JAN. 1917

Gravestones of the same type also appear on ongloé WW | photographs.



So much for the history of the German chapel at #aise, in a condensed version based
on information currently available, and for its present condition.

In these days when we hear so much about our “obkgion to remember” and where the
few last survivors of the trench warfare of 1914-188 will soon have passed away, it
would seem to be of vital importance that this unige relic of a horrible war be pre-
served (or, better yet, restored) so that future geerations may remember those events,
and the sacrifice made by our forebears may not skinto oblivion.

For further information or if you wish to support this project, contact the
following address:

MonsieMURZYN David
Rue de La Pagerie
S5D4Moncetz-Longevas

France

___Tel3(0) 3.26.66.89.42

Emadamur@club-internet.fr

The author gratefully ackowledges the English traslation of this text, provided by
Mr. Karl Freudenstein
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